In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 1 8 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC 3.25(b)

ALWIN CARL LEWIS,

Petitioner,

 \mathbf{v} .

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,

Respondent;

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE · NO. B252032 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · HON. JOANNE B. O'DONNELL · NO. BS139289

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HENRY R. FENTON, ESQ. (45130)
DENNIS E. LEE, ESQ. (164360)
BENJAMIN J. FENTON, ESQ. (243214)
dlee@fentonlawgroup.com
FENTON LAW GROUP LLP
1990 South Bundy Drive, Suite 777

ISSUES PRESENTED

Pursuant to California Rules of Court ("CRC") Rule 8.520(b)(2)(B),

Petitioner Alwin Carl Lewis, M.D. ("Petitioner" or "Dr. Lewis") restates the

"Issues Presented" in his Petition for Review:

1. Whether the Medical Board of California ("Medical Board" or "Board") is permitted, pursuant to the State constitutional right to privacy,

to conduct a warrantless and unfettered search of records of prescriptions for both controlled and non-controlled substances for hundreds of patients, initiated by the state's computerized Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) and followed up by general pharmacy audits, regardless of the nature of the patient complaint(s) involved? Petitioner Alwin Carl Lewis, M.D., contends that the applicable legal standard is that the State must show a "compelling state interest" to justify such an intrusion into the constitutional privacy right, and that, under this standard, the blanket, warrantless searches conducted herein were not sufficiently narrowly tailored.

2. Whether Fourth Amendment privacy rights under the federal constitution, which do not require balancing of interests, may be asserted by a physician with respect to patient prescription records.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to CRC Rules 8.204(a)(2) and 8.520(b)(1), Petitioner sets forth this Statement of the Case. The appellate record in this case consists of five separate bound volumes of Supporting Exhibits, paginated consecutively, and references in this brief are to the appropriate Exhibit and page-number of the Supporting-Exhibits ("S.E.").

A. BRIEF SUMMARY

The essential facts of the case are not in dispute.¹ The Medical Board of California ("the Board") initiated an investigation against the medical license of a physician, Petitioner Alwin Carl Lewis, M.D. ("Petitioner" or "Dr. Lewis"), based on a single patient complaint by patient V.C. The patient alleged that Dr. Lewis had recommended that she lose weight and start a diet she considered unhealthful. No issue whatsoever was raised with respect to prescriptions for this patient or with her actual care, other than the alleged dietary recommendation.

The Board ultimately found that Dr. Lewis did <u>not</u> recommend any sort of "unhealthful diet," as the patient claimed, nor did the Board find any violations of the standard of care in her treatment (a one-time event on May 8, 2008). The only adverse finding by the Board with respect to V.C. was that some of Petitioner's documentation could have been more thorough.

Nevertheless, based solely on V.C.'s complaint, the Board obtained, via CURES and general pharmacy audits, prescription medication records for <u>all</u> of Dr. Lewis' patients over a four-year period, including records for non-controlled prescription medications for many of these patients. The

¹ This section serves as a brief general overview. More detailed discussion of the facts, with citations to the record, occurs in section C., "Factual and Procedural History", *infra*, at pp. 5-14.

Board amended its Accusation to add numerous medication-related allegations against Dr. Lewis with respect to patients other than V.C. Dr. Lewis filed a motion to dismiss the allegations relating to these other patients which was denied. The Board largely, but not entirely, ruled in favor of Dr. Lewis with respect to these other patients, primarily finding only minor recordkeeping violations. In its final Decision, the Board placed Dr. Lewis's medical license on probation for three years under various terms and conditions.

Dr. Lewis subsequently filed a petition for writ of administrative mandamus in the trial court, challenging the Decision in its entirety. He argued, *inter alia*, that the CURES searches and general pharmacy audits were improper and in violation of his patients' right to privacy under the State Constitution (Art. I, section 1) and contended that the disciplinary action based on patients other than V.C. was entirely improper. The trial court rejected Dr. Lewis' arguments and affirmed the Board's Decision.

Dr. Lewis then filed a writ petition in the Court of Appeal, which, unlike the trial court action, only challenged the CURES searches and pharmacy audits and not the discipline imposed with respect to patient V.C. That Petition was denied in a published opinion, *Lewis v. Superior Court* (2014) 172 Cal.Rptr.3d 491 ("*Lewis I*"). Dr. Lewis' Petition for Review to

this Court was subsequently granted. The present Petition only challenges the discipline based on patients other than V.C.

B. STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

Dr. Lewis' petition for writ of administrative mandamus in the trial court was filed pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5. California Business and Professions Code section 2337, enacted in 1993, eliminated the right of direct appeal for physicians or other licentiates challenging a professional disciplinary action, leaving only appellate writ review as a means of challenging a trial court decision. *Leone v. Medical Board of California* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 660, 670. Accordingly, Dr. Lewis filed a writ petition in the Court of Appeal, which ultimately led to the aforementioned published opinion in *Lewis I*. An appellate court decision on a writ petition is subject to review by this Court in the same manner applicable to appeals. *Superior Court v. County of Mendocino* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 45, 52, fn.5.

C. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioner Alwin Carl Lewis, M.D. ("Petitioner" or "Dr. Lewis") practices medicine in southern California. See Supporting Exhibits filed with Court of Appeal, "S.E.", <u>Ex. 1</u>, p. 2 (Decision, Finding 4). He received his medical degree and a masters degree in Public Health from Tulane

University in New Orleans, Louisiana, in 1997. *Id.* (Finding 3). In 2001, he completed an internal medicine residency at UC Irvine. *Id.* His practice is primarily devoted to adults and weight loss issues. *Id.* (Finding 4).

1. The initial complaint

The Board initiated its investigation against Dr. Lewis after a written complaint by patient V.C. on August 11, 2008. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, p. 81 (Investigation Narrative). V.C. was interviewed by a Board investigator on April 7, 2009. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 82-84. V.C.'s complaint arose out of a single visit with Dr. Lewis on May 8, 2008. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 81-84. In both her written statement and her interview, V.C. raised <u>no</u> issues whatsoever about medications or prescriptions. Rather, she appeared to be angry that Dr. Lewis had recommended weight loss, and her principal complaint was that Dr. Lewis had purportedly recommended a diet plan, called the "Five Bite Diet", that the patient believed is "not healthy." S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, p. 81-84.

Upon receipt of patient V.C.'s authorization, Dr. Lewis forwarded V.C.'s medical records to the Board for review; Dr. Lewis had only seen V.C. once, briefly, and she had declined to return for any follow-ups. S.E., Ex. 1, pp. 81-82. The Board sent the results of their investigation of V.C. to two experts for review. S.E., Ex. 1, p. 7 (Decision, Finding 23) and p. 88.

The Board's original Accusation was dated May 10, 2011. S.E., Ex.

1, p. 3 (Decision, Finding 1) and pp. 61-66. The Accusation pertained solely to Dr. Lewis' care and treatment of V.C. on May 8, 2008. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 4-7 (Decision, Findings 6-22); and pp. 61-66. The original Accusation (as well as all amended Accusations) merely alleged, with respect to patient V.C., that Dr. Lewis had not performed a full medical exam on V.C. on May 8, 2008, but had instead focused on her weight, and that he had tried to put her on the "Five Bite Diet." S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 34-35 (¶ 10); and p. 64 (¶ 9). No issues regarding medications or prescriptions-- or even of care provided, other than the purported dietary recommendation-- were ever raised by the Board at the administrative hearing with respect to V.C.

After fully considering the evidence at hearing, the Board concluded that Dr. Lewis' medical exam of V.C. was indeed within the standard of care and that he had not, in fact, put the patient on the "Five Bite Diet" or any other diet, but instead had merely suggested a healthy lifestyle. S.E, <u>Ex.</u> 1, p. 10 (Decision, Finding 32). The only "misconduct" ultimately found by the Board with respect to V.C. related to documentation-- specifically, he had not documented some of the routine questions he had asked the patient in the course of his exam; he had not quantified the extent to which the patient's weight was excessive except for a reference to "central obesity"; and he did not document that the patient was being treated by another

physician for her headaches. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 5-6 (Decision, Findings 11-13) and p. 9 (*Id.*, Finding 28-d).

2. The intrusive CURES searches and subsequent pharmacy audits, conducted without warrant, subpoena, or showing of good cause

The Board subsequently amended its Accusation twice, on June 21, 2011 and February 1, 2012, respectively. S.E., Ex. 1, p. 3 (Decision, Finding 1) and pp. 29-46. The amended Accusations were substantially identical to the original in their allegations regarding V.C. but also added entirely new allegations and charges related to five additional patients, W.G., M.U., D.L., D.S., and M.M. *Id*.

None of these five patients had filed any sort of complaint about Dr. Lewis. Rather, the Board had, without any prior notice or warning to the patients or to Dr. Lewis, conducted a broad and intrusive search of <u>all</u> of Petitioner's patients' medical prescription records for controlled medications, via the state's Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES). S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, p. 82. On November 25, 2008, the Board obtained a 205-page CURES report which set forth the records for prescriptions for controlled medications for all of Dr. Lewis' patients, from November 2005 to November 25, 2008. *Id* at 82, 116-320.

CURES records are maintained in a statewide databank and contain

confidential patient information such as a patient's first and last name, home address, the particular medication prescribed, the quantity of medication prescribed, and the location of the pharmacy. Pursuant to California Health and Safety ("Cal. H&S") Code section 11165(a), CURES includes all prescriptions of controlled substances in California. Pharmacies are required to file regular reports of new controlled substance prescriptions on a weekly basis with CURES, and this information is quite extensive and includes the full name, address, phone number, gender, and date of birth of the patient, as well as information about the prescriber, the medications prescribed, the pharmacy from which they were obtained, and the quantity. See e.g. Cal. H&S Code section 11165(d), as amended by S.B. 809 and effective September 27, 2013.

At the time the Board conducted its initial search of CURES, no patients other than V.C. had authorized the release of medical records to the Board or had made any complaints against Dr. Lewis. S.E., Ex. 1, pp. 1092-1093. Moreover, the Board had not obtained any warrants nor issued any subpoenas for patient records prior to the Board's receipt of the CURES records. *Id.* On December 16, 2009 the Board obtained an additional 49 pages of CURES reports pertaining to Dr. Lewis' patients. S.E., Ex. 1, pp. 88, 321-369, 1093-1095. This additional report was also obtained despite

the absence of any patient complaints, or the issuance of any subpoenas. Id.

The Board's own investigator testified that it was "a common practice during the course of an investigation to 'run' a CURES report on the physician." *Lewis I, supra*, 172 Cal.Rptr.3d at 495. In other words, the Board routinely runs these CURES searches <u>virtually every time</u> it investigates a physician for any reason at all.

Based on the results of the CURES searches, the Board then sought and obtained the complete prescription records of all of Petitioner's patients from several pharmacies, purportedly pursuant to its general authority to audit pharmacies under Cal. Bus. and Prof. Code section 4081. These records occur as Exhibit "II" at the administrative hearing (S.E., Ex. 1, pp. 370-893), comprising over 500 pages. These records came from Board audits of March 3, 2011 of the CVS Pharmacy in Burbank, and of April 7, 2011 of the CVS pharmacy in Studio City. (S.E., Ex. 1, pp. 104-106, 1125). Exhibit "II" contains hundreds of pages of prescription records for patients other than the five patients at issue, as well as complete records for prescriptions for both controlled and non-controlled drugs, which are obtainable via standard pharmacy audit, but not via CURES.

With the information obtained from the CURES reports and the subsequent pharmacy audits, the Board reviewed patient records for

hundreds of Dr. Lewis' patients treated from 2005 to at least 2010. Based on a review of these CURES reports, the Board either issued subpoenas or requested authorizations for medical records with respect to the aforementioned five patients. S.E, <u>Ex. 1</u>, p. 88. As noted, the Board amended its Accusation twice with new allegations and charges related to these patients, alleging excessive prescription of controlled substances, inadequate record keeping, and other violations of the standard of care. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 29-58, esp. pp. 35-38.

3. The administrative hearing

The administrative hearing was held in February, 2013. S.E., Ex. 1, p. 2. At the outset of the hearing, Dr. Lewis filed a motion to dismiss with respect to the allegations pertaining to patients W.G., M.U., D.L., D.S., and M.M., which was denied. *Id.*, pp. 975-977.

As previously noted, the Board concluded that the only "misconduct" with respect to V.C. involved a few minor issues with documentation-specifically, Dr. Lewis had not documented some of the routine questions he had asked the patient in the course of his exam; he had not quantified the extent to which the patient's weight was excessive except for a reference to "central obesity"; and he did not document that the patient was being treated by another physician for her headaches. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 5-6 (Decision,

Findings 11-13) and p. 9 (*Id.*, Finding 28-d).

With respect to the other patients, the Board ultimately found that Dr. Lewis was not guilty of excessive prescribing of any medications; had committed primarily very minor record-keeping violations; and that no patients had been actually harmed by any of these very minor violations.

S.E., Ex. 1, pp. 22-23 (Decision, Legal Conclusions # 6-9). The Board expressly found that "[t]he few instances in which more than the minimum dosages of medications were prescribed involved patients with documented need for the medications." S.E., Ex. 1, p. 23 (Id., Legal Conclusion # 9).

Accordingly, the Board concluded that "discipline in the lower range of the spectrum is appropriate." *Id*.

The Medical Board adopted the Decision as final, effective August 17, 2012. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, p. 1. The Decision revoked Petitioner's medical license but stayed the revocation and placed him on probation for three years under various terms and conditions. S.E., <u>Ex. 1</u>, pp. 23-26 (Order).

4. Subsequent court proceedings

Dr. Lewis filed a Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandamus in the Superior Court of Los Angeles, on September 12, 2012. S.E., Ex. 3, pp. 1140-1174. The Petition alleged, *inter alia*, that the Board's Decision should be set aside with respect to the five patients added in the Amended

Accusations-- W.G., M.U., D.L., D.S., and M.M.-- based on the overbroad, intrusive, and warrantless search of their prescription records, going as far back as 2005. S.E., <u>Ex. 3</u>, pp. 1141-1442.

In a written decision dated July 17, 2013, the trial court, the Honorable Joanne O'Donnell, denied the Petition. The court rejected the argument that the warrantless search of the CURES reports had violated the privacy rights of the patients or the physician. S.E., <u>Ex. 9</u>, pp. 1242-1246.

Dr. Lewis subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal, which is the only authorized mode of appellate review.

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 2337; *Leone v. Medical Board* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 660, 663-664, 670. The Court of Appeal granted an alternative writ and an order to show cause. *Lewis I, supra*, 172 Cal.Rptr.3d at 496.

After written and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued its decision, denying the petition for writ of mandate, in *Lewis I*. In its decision, the court assumed, without deciding, that the compelling state interest standard applied to patient medical records, after *Hill v. National Collegiate Athletic Assn.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1. *Lewis I, supra*, 173 Cal.Rptr.3d at 507. The court did not, however, consider whether "less intrusive alternatives" were available, as required under that test. The court concluded that the State does not need any subpoena, warrant, or prior

showing of good cause to search the CURES database or to conduct a general pharmacy audit in conducting a physician disciplinary investigation.

The Court of Appeal's decision was filed on May 29, 2014. This Petition for Review followed and was granted by the Court.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I.

THE 'COMPELLING INTEREST' STANDARD APPLIES TO THE STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PRIVACY RIGHT IN PATIENT MEDICAL RECORDS, INCLUDING PRESCRIPTION RECORDS

A.

The state constitutional privacy right applies to medical records, pursuant to *Gherardini*, *Hill*, and related cases

The Court of Appeal in *Lewis I* found that the right to privacy set forth in article I, section 1 of the California Constitution applies to patient medical records, including prescription records. *Lewis I, supra*, 172 Cal.Rptr.3d at 502 ("Like medical records, prescription records contain identifying information and sensitive information related to drugs used to treat a person's medical condition and also reveal medical decisions concerning the course of treatment.... entitled to privacy from unauthorized public and bureaucratic snooping"). The same conclusion was reached by the First Appellate District in *Medical Board of California v. Chiarottino*

(2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 623, 631 ("Chiarottino") ("It is established that patients do have a right to privacy in their medical information under our state Constitution").²

In reaching this conclusion, Lewis I cited the seminal case of Board of Medical Quality Assurance v. Gherardini (1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 669 ("Gherardini"). In Gherardini, the Court of Appeal applied cases such as White v. Davis (1975) 13 Cal.3d 757 and People v. Privitera (1979) 23 Cal.3d 697 in holding that the state constitutional right to privacy applied to patient medical records. Gherardini, supra, 93 Cal.App.3d at 677-678. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal noted that "A person's medical profile is an area of privacy infinitely more intimate, more personal in quality and nature than many areas already judicially recognized and protected." Id. at 678.

This Court has also recognized that the state constitutional right to

² In addition, in *Whalen v. Roe* (1977) 429 U.S. 589, 599, 97 S.Ct. 869, 876, the U.S. Supreme Court recognized a federal constitutional right to privacy in patient prescription records due to "the individual interest in avoiding disclosure of personal matters." See also *Oregon Prescription Drug Monitoring Program v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Admin.* (D.Ore. 2014) 998 F.Supp.2d 957, 964-965. It should be noted, however, that the California constitutional right to privacy is, "in many contexts... broader and more protective of privacy than the federal constitutional right of privacy as interpreted by the federal courts." *American Academy of Pediatrics v. Lungren* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 307, 326.

privacy applies to patient medical records. *Hill v. National Collegiate*Athletic Assn. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1, 41 ("Hill") (citing Gherardini for the proposition that "information about the internal medical state of an [individual's] body... is regarded as personal and confidential"). Indeed, this Court noted in Ruiz v. Podolsky (2010) 50 Cal.4th 838, 851, that "[t]he disclosure of ... sensitive medical information is at the core of the protected informational privacy interest," citing Hill, 7 Cal.4th at 41.

B.

The "compelling state interest" test with "the least intrusive manner" standard continues to apply to medical records after *Hill v. NCAA* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1

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