### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

ALWIN LEWIS, M.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent,

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S219811

SUPREME COURT

JUL 1 7 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. B252032 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BS139289 The Honorable Joanne O'Donnell, Superior Court Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
EDWARD C. DUMONT
Solicitor General
KATHLEEN A. KENEALY
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GLORIA L. CASTRO
Senior Assistant Attorney General

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

Although his brief is not entirely clear, Lewis suggests that this court should limit the Board's ability to obtain CURES records to cases in which the Board has developed "good cause" to review the records and after notice to patients—requirements that some Courts of Appeal have applied to subpoenas for medical records. (See, e.g., Bearman v. Superior Court (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 463.) Whatever merit such a standard has with respect to subpoenas for complete medical records, that standard is inapplicable to Board requests for CURES data, which, as explained above, do not contain the kind of detailed personal information as may be found in a medical record (supra, 22-23), and have long been subject to administrative review without warrant or subpoena (supra, 4-8).

Imposing the same kind of notice and good cause requirements to Board requests for CURES data would also compromise the Board's ability to detect and halt dangerous medical practices and thereby put patients' health—and even lives—at risk. "Real-time access to CURES . . . protects patients from incompetent and unprofessional doctors." (Opn. 23.) In creating CURES, the Legislature concluded that "the ability to closely monitor the prescribing and dispensing of Schedule II controlled substances" "is essential to effectively control the abuse and diversion of these controlled substances." (Stats. 1996, ch. 738, p. 3976, § 1.) If the Board were required to provide notice to patients and develop good cause as understood by the Courts of Appeal in the medical records context before obtaining records of controlled substances prescriptions from the Department, it would delay the Board's ability to identify and correct potentially dangerous practices. This is true even if no patient ultimately had any objection to the disclosure. And in cases in which a party objected, the delays could be extensive. (See Chiarottino, supra, 225.Cal.App. 4th 623 [Board requested patient releases in February 2012; appeal decided April 2014]; Whitney, supra, 222 Cal. App. 4th 906 [petition seeking medical records filed June 2011; appeal decided January 2014].) Requiring the Board to wait for a potentially lengthy judicial-enforcement process to conclude would impede the Board's ability to detect and promptly halt unsafe medical practices, putting public and patient safety at risk, with no meaningful added benefit to patient privacy.

The Board's receipt of CURES prescriber reports is consistent with the privacy guarantee of article I, section 1 of the California Constitution.

II. LEWIS'S FOURTH AMENDMENT CHALLENGE TO THE BOARD'S REVIEW OF CURES DATA IS FORFEITED, RESTS ON THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS THAT CANNOT BE ASSERTED VICARIOUSLY, AND LACKS MERIT

In addition to his claim under article I, section 1 of the state constitution, Lewis now argues that the Board's review of CURES data violated his patients' rights under the Fourth Amendment to the federal constitution. Lewis failed to preserve this claim and, in any event, is precluded from pressing the Fourth Amendment rights of third parties. Furthermore, the claim has no merit.

#### A. Lewis Forfeited His Fourth Amendment Claim

The Court need not reach Lewis's arguments under the Fourth Amendment because he did not assert the Fourth Amendment as a basis for relief. In administrative proceedings before the Board (and in writ proceedings before the superior court), Lewis generally referred to "violations of fundamental privacy protections guaranteed under state and federal law," but supported his claim solely on the basis of the state constitution. (Motion to Dismiss 1, 3-6; see Verified Petn. 2-3 [AR1141-AR1142]; OB 4.) This kind of passing reference to "federal law," unsubstantiated by legal authority, is not sufficient to advance a Fourth Amendment claim. (See *People v. Stanley* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 764, 793; *Ochoa v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co.* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1480, 1488, fn. 3.) And because he did not assert a Fourth Amendment challenge in the administrative proceedings before the Board, he cannot now seek writ relief on that basis. (*Medical Bd. of California v. Superior Court* (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 1458, 1462.)

## B. Lewis May Not Vicariously Assert a Fourth Amendment Claim on Behalf of His Patients

Lewis's Fourth Amendment claim on behalf of his patients fails at the threshold for the additional reason that he is not entitled to assert any Fourth Amendment interest his patients may have in the Board's review of CURES data. In *Rakas v. Illinois* (1978) 439 U.S. 128, the United States

Supreme Court rejected any notion of third-party standing in this context, holding that "Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights which, like some other constitutional rights, may not be vicariously asserted." (*Id.* at pp. 133-134, quoting *Alderman v. United States* (1969) 394 U.S. 165, 174; see Opn. 6, fn. 5.) Applying *Rakas*, this court has explained that, "[i]n order to challenge a search or seizure, a defendant must allege . . . that the defendant's *personal interests* were violated." (*People v. Bryant* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 335, 365, italics added; see also *People v. Ayala* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 225, 255 [similar].)<sup>11</sup>

Ignoring *Rakas*, Lewis advances two arguments in support of his claim that he can advance his patients' Fourth Amendment interests. First, he argues that a 1979 Court of Appeal decision, *Gherardini*, establishes that he has "standing" to assert his patients' Fourth Amendment rights in an administrative proceeding. (OB 41, citing 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 675 [allowing hospital to challenge subpoena because it "has standing... under the 'vicarious exclusionary rule' to object to the admission of evidence obtained in violation of another's constitutional rights"].) To the extent that *Gherardini* suggests there is a "vicarious exclusionary rule," it fails to account for *Rakas*, which specifically held that Fourth Amendment rights are purely personal, and "may be enforced by exclusion of evidence only at the instance of one whose own protection was infringed by the search and seizure." (*Rakas*, *supra*, 439 U.S. at p. 428 [rejecting "target theory" of the

his patients' rights, two of the three patients whose full medical records Lewis seeks to suppress affirmatively consented, and none objected, to their records' use. Lewis should not be allowed to override these patients' decisions about their own rights. (See *Pating*, *supra*, 130 Cal.App.3d at p. 621 [once patients consented to introduction of their medical records, physician was "no longer entitled (if ever he had been) to assert their rights"].)

Fourth Amendment]; see also *Minnesota v. Carter* (1998) 525 U.S. 83, 87 [question under the Fourth Amendment is not one of "standing," but whether claimant asserts a personal right].) Contrary to Lewis's view, *In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873 did not carve out a different rule for civil proceedings. (OB 41-42.) Rather, *Lance W.* explained that the exclusionary rule generally does *not* apply in civil matters. (*Lance W.*, *supra*, at pp. 892-893; see also *infra*, 44-46.)

Second, Lewis argues that he may vicariously assert his patients' privacy interests because he has a *personal* interest in his own prescription practices. (OB 42-43.) Not only did Lewis fail to argue below that he had any personal Fourth Amendment interest in records kept by third parties about the controlled substance prescriptions he writes, but this argument is a non-sequitur. Even if he has a personal, constitutionally protected privacy interest in his own prescribing practices (which he does not), that is irrelevant to the question whether he may assert the rights of someone else.<sup>12</sup>

## C. The Board's Review of CURES Data Without a Warrant Was Consistent with the Fourth Amendment

Even if Lewis were able to assert his patients' Fourth Amendment rights, his argument that the Fourth Amendment required the Board to

<sup>12</sup> Any suggestion that a doctor would have a reasonable expectation of privacy in prescription records held by CURES would fail. As explained above, there is no reasonable expectation of privacy that would deny the Board access to CURES data collected by the government (*supra*, 20-23), and doctors are on clear notice that their controlled substance prescriptions are reported to the State. (Opn. 7 [relying on § 11190 and concluding that "Lewis has no reasonable expectation of privacy in his prescribing practices of controlled substances"].) "Obviously . . . a 'legitimate' expectation of privacy by definition means more than a subjective expectation of [one's wrongdoing] not being discovered." (See *Rakas*, *supra*, 439 U.S. at p. 143, fn. 12.)

obtain a warrant before reviewing CURES data would fail. (OB 38-41.) As the Supreme Court explained more than 40 years ago, it has "never carried the Fourth Amendment's interest in privacy as far as" to forbid a State to collect and review prescription drug information, and it "decline[d] to do so" in that case. (Whalen, supra, 429 U.S. at p. 604, fn. 32 [rejecting Fourth Amendment challenge to New York's controlled substance program and noting it was unlike "those cases involv[ing] affirmative, unannounced, narrowly focused intrusions into individual privacy during the course of criminal investigations" in which a Fourth Amendment right might lie]; see also Opn. 19 [discussing Whalen].)

As explained above, patients have no reasonable expectation that records of a physician's controlled substance prescriptions will be shielded from the very state agency charged with overseeing the physicians who prescribe those drugs. (*Supra*, 20-23.) Because such regulatory review does not infringe upon any reasonable expectation of privacy, no warrant is necessary under the Fourth Amendment. (See *Williams*, *supra*, 213 S.W.3d at pp. 683-684; see *United States v. Jacobsen* (1984) 466 U.S. 109, 113 [Fourth Amendment "search" occurs only when a reasonable expectation of privacy is infringed].)<sup>13</sup>

Even were a warrant otherwise required, the Board would be entitled to access CURES physician records without a warrant under the administrative search exception set forth in *New York v. Burger* (1987) 482 U.S. 691. *Burger* held that no warrant is necessary to search the records of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Louisiana Supreme Court in *State v. Skinner* (La. 2009) 10 So.3d 1212, held that a warrant was required before law enforcement could obtain an individual's prescription drug records from pharmacies. But that case explicitly distinguished the focused police search for criminal prosecution purposes at issue there from the kind of regulatory inquiry at issue in *Whalen* and here. (*Id.* at p. 1218.)

a closely regulated business so long as (1) the State has a substantial interest in regulating the business; (2) the warrantless inspection is necessary to further the regulatory scheme; and (3) the statute authorizing the search provides a constitutionally adequate substitute for a warrant by informing the business operator that inspections are expected and by limiting the discretion of inspection officers. (Id. at pp. 702-703; see also People v. Maikhio (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1074, 1091-1093 & fn. 8.) While the Supreme Court recently declined to extend this exception to hotel guest registers, observing that "nothing inherent in the operation of hotels poses a clear and significant risk to the public welfare" (City of Los Angeles v. Patel, No. 13-1175 (2014) (slip opn.), at p. 14), the opposite is true of prescription drugs in general and controlled substances in particular. Both categories of drugs are defined by law as "dangerous," and both pose inherent risks that require close regulatory scrutiny. (Supra, 4-5.) More than a century of detailed regulation in California and across the country confirms that commonsense proposition. (Supra, 4-8.)

As the Court of Appeal held, the three *Burger* criteria are satisfied here. First, the State has a substantial interest in controlling access to controlled substances. (*Supra*, 28-30.) Second, the Board requires real-time access to pharmaceutical records to respond quickly and effectively to concerns that physicians may be failing to comply with the limits imposed on controlled substances for patient and public safety. Third, the CURES statute informs patients, physicians, and pharmacists that controlled substance records are made available to the Department and the Board for disciplinary purposes as well as civil and criminal enforcement. (§ 11165, subd. (c); Opn 21 ["the physician and patient know who is authorized to receive CURES data and under what narrow circumstances"].)

The district court's decision in *Oregon Prescription Drug Monitoring*Program v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (D. Or. 2014) 998

F.Supp.2d 957 (Oregon PDMP) (see OB 40), does not assist Lewis. That decision, which is pending on appeal (9th Cir. No. 14-35402), invalidated federal law enforcement subpoenas of controlled substance information held by the State based on the incorrect premise that Whalen left open whether state collection of information about controlled substance prescriptions violated the Fourth Amendment. (Compare Oregon PDMP, supra, at p. 964 [Whalen not controlling because it "did not reach any claims raised pursuant to the Fourth Amendment"] with Whalen, supra, 429 U.S. at p. 604 fn. 32 ["[w]e have never carried the Fourth Amendment's interest in privacy as far as [plaintiffs] would have us" and "[w]e decline to do so now"].) Moreover, the court observed, the Oregon statute specifically advised patients that prescription data could be disclosed to law enforcement only with a judicial order based on probable cause, which contributed to the reasonableness of patients' expectation of privacy in their prescription records. (Oregon PDMP, at p. 960.) The CURES statute contains no such requirement, and federal law requires patients be informed that their information may be shared with entities such as the Board. (See, e.g., 45 C.F.R. § 164.512(d) (2005).14

The absence of a warrant requirement under the Fourth Amendment also confirms that no such procedural hurdle should be imposed under the state Constitution's privacy provision. As this court has explained, "[i]n the search and seizure context, the article I, section 1 'privacy' clause of the California Constitution has never been held to establish a broader protection than that provided by the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution or article I, section 13 of the California Constitution." (*People v. Crowson* (1983) 33 Cal.3d 623, 629; see also *Hill, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at p. 30, fn. 9; *Sheehan, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1001; but cf. 86 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 198, \*3-4 (2003) [suggesting article I, section 1 would require judicial authorization for law enforcement trap and traces and pen registers even though such authorization not required under the Fourth Amendment].)

# III. LEWIS'S CHALLENGE TO THE CVS PHARMACY REPORT IS FORFEITED AND, IN ANY EVENT, WITHOUT MERIT

In his opening brief before this court, Lewis challenges not only the Board's review of CURES data but also the prescriber profile report that the Board obtained from CVS Pharmacy. (OB 28-38.) As explained above, that report lists the prescriptions that Lewis wrote and that his patients filled at CVS pharmacies during a specified time period. Because the Court of Appeal did not address this issue, which was forfeited below, the court should decline to address Lewis's arguments. But if the court chooses to reach Lewis's arguments on the merits, they are easily rejected.

# A. Lewis Forfeited His Challenge to the Board's Review of the CVS Pharmacy Report

The court need not address Lewis's challenge to the Board's review of the CVS Pharmacy report, as Lewis did not address that report until his reply brief before the Court of Appeal. Lewis's sole focus below—from his motion to dismiss the administrative accusation through his writ petition to the Court of Appeal—was the Board's review of CURES data. An argument not raised during the challenged administrative proceeding cannot serve as the basis for later writ relief. (*Supra*, 35.) The Court of Appeal, moreover, did not address Lewis's arguments concerning the CVS Pharmacy report.

### B. Lewis's Challenge to the CVS Pharmacy Report Fails

In any event, Lewis's belated attempt to assert his patients' interests in the CVS Pharmacy report fails. As an initial matter, for all the reasons explained above, Lewis lacks standing to assert his patients' state privacy interests in records obtained from CVS. (Supra, 16-19.)

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